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I. INTRODUCTION

This survey period saw little appellate court activity on the subject of
securities law, but produced significant legislation in the area of invest-
ment advice. In addition, the Georgia Commissioner of Securities (the
"Commissioner") issued numerous orders dealing with a myriad of topics.
This Article reviews the developments in administrative, statutory, and
case law in the area of securities regulation.

IL APPELLATE DECISIONS

The three securities cases decided by the Georgia Court of Appeals
during the survey period involved three distinct issues. These three issues
were: the characterization of stock as a security,' the plaintiff's require-
ment of proving the existence of a securities contract," and the determi-
nation of venue in securities fraud cases.3
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A. Classification of Stock as a Security

The most significant appellate decision in the securities area during the
survey period was Henderson v. KMSystems.4 Henderson argued that the
sale of certain stock constituted the sale of securities and that the sale,
therefore, should be regulated under Georgia securities laws. Henderson
joined KMSystems in its early stages. To induce Henderson to join, the
sole stockholders of KMSystems, Mr. and Mrs. Moffa, offered Henderson
an opportunity to buy twenty-five percent of the stock. The Moffas also
assured Henderson that his compensation would equal Mr. Moffa's. Hen-
derson exercised his option and purchased twenty-five percent of the out-
standing shares pursuant to a written agreement containing provisions for
the repurchase of stock if Henderson died, retired, or was terminated.
With Henderson's knowledge, the stock certificates expressly stated that
the securities were not registered and could not be transferred until after
registration.

When the Moffas wanted to purchase a building, Henderson disagreed.
The Moffas insisted, and the lender required, that all principals guaran-
tee the loan personally. Henderson and the Moffas agreed that Hender-
son would sell his stock back to KMSystems so he would no longer be a
principal and, thus, no longer required to sign the loan.' The sale took
place, with the value of Henderson's stock calculated "using generally ac-
cepted accounting principles consistently applied." The Moffas subse-
quently terminated Henderson. After consulting his accountant and con-
cluding that the Moffas fraudulently determined the value of his stock,
Henderson instituted an action against KMSystems, alleging a violation
of the Georgia Securities Act' (the "Securities Act") in connection with
the purchase of his stock.s

The trial court found that the stock did not constitute a security under
Georgia law.' On appeal, Henderson argued that the trial court erred in
making that determination. 0 Specifically, he contended that the trial
court used an erroneous standard in applying language from Tech Re-
sources v. Estate of Hubbard" and thereby gave undue emphasis to the

4. 188 Ga. App. 893, 374 S.E.2d 550 (1988).
5. Id. at 894-96, 374 S.E.2d at 550-52. There was no written agreement containing the

mentioned provisions. Id.
6. Id. at 895, 374 S.E.2d at 552.
7. Georgia Securities Act of 1973, 1973 Ga. Laws 1202 (codified as amended at O.C.G.A.

tit. 10, ch. 5 (1989)).
8. 188 Ga. App. at 895, 374 S.E.2d at 552.
9. Id.

10. Id.
11. 246 Ga. 583, 272 S.E.2d 314 (1980).
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last prong of the three-prong investment contract test of SEC v. W.J.
Howey Co.12

The Howey economic reality test provides that "an investment contract
for purposes of the Securities Act means a contract, transaction or
scheme whereby a person invests his money in a common enterprise and
is led to expect profits solely from the efforts of the promoter or a third
party . . . ."s With respect to the sale of as little as thirty percent to as
much as one hundred percent of the sale of .a business via the sale of
stock, Georgia law from 1980 until 1988 did not deem the transaction a
sale of a "security" when the transaction failed to pass the Howey eco-
n6mic reality test.14

In Tech Resources, the sellers entered into contracts to purchase all of
the shares of three corporations." Because one hundred percent of the
business was sold to these purchasers, the Georgia Supreme Court held
that the final prong of the Howey economic reality test would not be sat-
isfied.16 In other words, these parties could not expect profits solely from
the efforts of a third party because any profits that would be forthcoming
from these corporations would be the results of the new owners' manage-
rial efforts.

17

In 1985 the United States Supreme Court in Landreth Timber Co. v.
Landreth's held that federal securities laws apply when a business is sold
by a transfer of one hundred percent of its stock." The Court stated that
the purported stock instruments in fact "possess 'some of the significant
characteristics typically associated with' stock, recognizing that when an
instrument is both called 'stock' and bears stock's usual characteristics,
the 'purchaser justifiably [may] assume federal securities laws apply.' ,2o

The Court identified "characteristics usually associated with common
stock as (i) the right to receive dividends contingent upon an apportion-
ment of profits; (ii) negotiability; (iii) the ability to be pledged or hypoth-
ecated; (iv) the conferring of voting rights in proportion to the number of
shares owned; and (v) the capacity to appreciate in value."' This identifi-

12. 328 U.S. 293 (1946).
13. Id. at 298-99.
14. See, e.g., Nicholson v. Harris, 179 Ga. App. 35, 345 S.E.2d 63 (1986); Tech Resources

v. Estate of Hubbard, 246 Ga. 583, 272 S.E.2d 314 (1980).
15. 246 Ga. at 583, 272 S.E.2d at 315.
16. Id. at 585, 272 S.E.2d at 316-17.
17. Id.
18. 471 U.S. 681 (1985).
19. Id. at 696-97.
20. Id. at 686 (quoting United Hous. Found., Inc. v. Forman, 421 U.S. 837, 850-51 (1975)

(emphasis added)).
21. Id. (quoting Forman, 421 U.S. at 851).
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cation is known as the stock characterization test.22

In Landreth Timber, the Court distinguished United Housing Founda-
tion, Inc. v. Forman 2 by noting that the stock in Forman did not bear
any of the usual characteristics of common stock discussed above and
that under the circumstances of that case, "there was no likelihood that
the purchasers had been misled by use of the word stock into thinking
that the federal securities laws govern their purchases."'24 The Forman
case was the basis for the Tech Resources holding.25

As late as 1986 (one year after Landreth Timber), the Georgia Court of
Appeals continued to follow the reasoning of Tech Resources. In Nichol-
son v. Harris, the court relied on the Howey economic reality test to
hold that the sale of thirty percent of a corporation to a member of the
corporation's board of directors did not qualify as the sale of a security.27

Commentators have criticized this application of the test.2

In Henderson, however, the Georgia Court of Appeals stated that the
Georgia courts had been misapplying the Howey economic reality test to
the sale of paper stock that met the criteria of Landreth Timber.2' The
court stated: "We believe that Landreth Timber provides appropriate
guidance in resolving issues of whether particular 'stock' is a 'security'
under the amended Georgia Securities Act of 1973."30 Although the court
applied the Landreth Timber stock characterization test, it held that
under the facts of the case, the transaction was not a sale of stock under
either the state or federal securities act because of the conspicuous note
on the stock. 1

In keeping with the spirit of Landreth Timber, the court, having ruled
that the transaction failed to meet those criteria, applied a second prong
of the Howey economic reality test.3 2 In essence, the court of appeals rea-
soned that this transaction was not the sale of "stock" under Landreth
Timber, but was the sale of an "unusual instrument. 33 The Supreme
Court created the Howey economic reality test to determine whether sales

22. Id.
23. 421 U.S. 837 (1975).
24. 471 U.S. at 687.
25. 246 Ga. at 584, 272 S.E.2d at 316.
26. 179 Ga. App. 35, 345 S.E.2d 63 (1986).
27. Id. at 36, 345 S.E.2d at 65.
28. Quir6s & Jones, Business Associations, 39 MERCER L. REV. 53, 74 (1987).
29. 188 Ga. App. at 897, 374 S.E.2d at 553.
30. Id. (citing Georgia Securities Act of 1973, 1973 Ga. Laws 1202 (codified as amended

at O.C.G.A. tit. 10, ch. 5 (1989))).
31. Id. at 897-98, 374 S.E.2d at 554.
32. Id. at 897, 374 S.E.2d at 554.
33. Id. at 898, 374 S.E.2d at 554.
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of "unusual instruments" qualify as investment contracts.8 ' It is clear
that the court of appeals will now apply Landreth Timber to a substan-
tial number of sales that consist of twenty-five to one hundred percent of
a corporation's stock.

B. Existence of a Contract in Claims for Fraudulent Sale

In Dermer v. Capital City Cable, Inc.,83 plaintiff's claim of a fraudulent
sale of securities failed because he was unable to show that a contract for
sale even existed. 6 Under section 11-8-319 of the Official Code of Georgia
Annotated ("O.C.G.A."), a contract for the sale of securities is not en-
forceable by way of action or defense unless one of four requirements are
met. 7 The court of appeals found that plaintiff failed to satisfy any of
these requirements .8  No contract existed; therefore, there could be no
fraudulent sale under a nonexistent contract.

C. Determination of Venue

In Thayer v. State,' defendants, a husband and wife, appealed their
convictions on nine counts of violations of the Securities Act, including
failure to file registration statements, failure to register as a securities
dealer or salesman, and participation in fraudulent schemes. " Among
other things, defendants complained that venue with respect to the fraud
claims was improper in Fayette County." The court of appeals held that
venue was appropriate, noting various connections between defendants
and Fayette County.' 2 First, defendants placed advertisements in the
newspaper received by their client in his home in Fayette County. Sec-
ond, defendants placed telephone calls to the client at home. Finally, the
client received a letter and certificate of deposit from defendants at his
home.'8 Based on these events, the court held that defendants were con-

34. 471 U.S. at 691.
35. 190 Ga. App. 40, 378 S.E.2d 162 (1989).
36. Id. at 43, 378 S.E.2d at 165.
37. The four requirements of O.C.G.A. § 11-8-319 (1982) are: (a) a signed writing indi-

cating that there is a contract for the sale of "a stated quantity or described securities at a
defined or stated price;" (b) delivery of the security or payment for the security; (c) a writ-
ten confirmation of the sale or purchase has been sent and no written objection made within
ten days; or (d) the party against whom enforcement is being sought admits that a contract
was made for the sale of securities described in (a) above.

38. 190 Ga. App. at 44, 378 S.E.2d at 165.
39. 189 Ga. App. 321, 376 S.E.2d 199 (1988).
40. Id. at 321, 376 S.E.2d at 200.
41. Id. at 322, 376 S.E.2d at 200.
42. Id. at 324, 376 S.E.2d at 202.
43. Id.
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structively present in Fayette County and found that defendants
designed the advertisements to cause a result in Fayette County." De-
fendants, therefore, could not complain of improper venue.45

III. LEGISLATIVE DEVELOPMENTS

In the area of securities law, the 1988 Georgia General Assembly fo-
cused its attention primarily on the regulation of individuals who render
investment advice for compensation. The legislators based these new se-
curities laws mainly on recommendations made by the Committee on the
State Regulation of Investment Advisers (the "Committee")." The pur-
pose of this Committee, appointed by the Secretary of State in 1985, was
to address the need for regulating those who give investment advice in
light of the increased public demand for such advice.'7

The new legislation makes investment advisers and their representa-
tives subject to the same laws that regulate the activities of securities
dealers and salesmen.48 O.C.G.A. § 10-5-2(a)(8) defines an investment ad-
viser as any person who is compensated for giving advice to others regard-
ing the value of securities or the advisability of the investment in,
purchase of, or sale of securities.4' The definition also includes one who
issues securities analyses and reports for profit.'0 Finally, the Securities
Act specifically includes as investment advisers all those who refer to
themselves as financial planners or investment advisers."

The legislature also decided to regulate the activities of investment ad-
viser representatives. Representatives may be partners, directors, or the
like, involved in a business which has a primary focus on investment ad-

44. Id.
45. Id.
46. REPORT OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S COMMITrEE ON THE STATE REGULATION OF IN-

VESTMENT AnViSERS (1988).
47. Id. at 1.
48. O.C.G.A. § 10-5-2(a)(8) (1989).
49. Id.
50. Id.
51. Id. Specifically excluded from the definition of investment advisers are the following:

(1) investment adviser representatives, defined in O.C.G.A. § 10-5-2(a)(9) (1989);
(2) lawyers, accountants, engineers or teachers whose advice on securities is inci-
dental to their professional practice; (3) securities dealers and agents who do not
receive special compensation for investment advisory services; (4) publishers of
material regarding securities which does not involve rendering advice to specific
persons; and, (5) all persons the Commissioner excludes from the definition. Bank-
ing institutions are also excluded from the definition unless they are required to
register as investment advisers under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.

O.C.G.A. § 10-5-2(a)(8) (1989).
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visement." An investment adviser representative may also be the agent of
an investment adviser or persons who issue or promulgate securities re-
ports and analyses for profit." The language of the statute defines those
who issue such reports as either an investment adviser, representative, or
both." The most logical reading, however, would be that the legislature
intended that those who act on behalf of investment advisers with regard
to such reports be defined as representatives.
• An individual must register if he fits the definition of either an invest-

ment adviser or representative and intends to transact business either
from or within Georgia.5 5 The legislature provided specific procedures for
registration." The qualifications required for investment advisers appear
to focus on the business expertise of the applicant.57 In contrast, the qual-
ifications required for representatives center on ethical qualifications. 8

Both advisers and representatives, however, must prove their technical
proficiency by passing a written examination."

The investment adviser legislation adopts the same provisions for han-
dling denial, suspension, and revocation of registration as those used with
regard to securities dealers and salesmen.60 Similarly, the legislature
amended the code section relating to unlawful securities practices to pro-
hibit investment advisers or representatives from engaging in such activi-
ties.6 1 New provisions specifically directed to advisers and representatives
prohibit additional activities." For example, advisers and representatives
cannot represent that the state has approved their services; at most, they
can state only that they are registered."

The legislature also specifically regulated the types of contracts advis-
ers can make." Contracts providing for an adviser's compensation to
come from a share of capital gains or capital appreciation of client funds

52. O.C.G.A. § 10-5-2(a)(9) (1989).
53. Id.
54. Id. § 10-5-2(a)(8), (9).
55. Id. § 10-5-3(b). Investment advisers whose only clients are insurance companies and

those who do not purport to be investment advisers and have had fewer than fifteen clients
in the preceding year are not required to register. Id. § 10-5-3(b)(1), (2).

56. Id. § 10-5-3(e), (0.
57. Id. § 10-5-3(e)(1)-(11).
58. Id. § 10-5-3(f)(l)-(6).
59. Id. § 10-5-3(e)(12), (f)(6).
60. Id. § 10-5-4.
61. Id. § 10-5-12.
62. Id. § 10-5-13. Investment advisers and representatives are also subject to the same

administrative, civil, and criminal penalties. Id. § 10-5-13(c).
63. Id. § 10-5-12(i). Of course, it is unlawful for an adviser or representative to make

even that statement if it is untrue. Id.
64. Id. § 10-5-120).
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are prohibited.05 An adviser may not assign an investment advisory con-
tract to another without the client's consent,ss and a partnership acting in
an investment advisory capacity must advise clients of any changes in the
membership of the partnership within a reasonable time of the change.67

If an investment adviser or representative makes a contract in violation
of these provisions or any other provisions of the chapter, the contract is
void as between the adviser or representative, the client, and all assignees
who acquired contractual rights with the knowledge of the violation.ss If a
contract is void, the client may sue the adviser or representative to re-
cover the consideration paid, including six percent interest from the date
of payment. Clients must institute such actions within two years from
the date of the transaction.7 0 Finally, the investment advisory legislation
accords investment advisers and representatives procedural due process
in hearings before the Commissioner.7"

The legislation regulating investment advisers and representatives is
timely. The demand for investment advice has created fertile ground for
the large number of persons eager to engage in this business. By enacting
this legislation, the General Assembly retains its tight control over all
persons who deal in securities.

In addition to the investment advisory statutes, the legislature revised
the securities law by creating a new chapter to regulate commodities
fraud.7 1 Previously, commodities fraud was regulated under the Georgia
Securities Act of 1973.7

3 The creation of this chapter and its regulations
raises the issue of federal preemption because the Federal Commodities
Futures Trading Commission retains exclusive jurisdiction in this area.7"

65. Id. § 10-5-12(j)(1). The adviser's compensation, however, may be based on the total
value of the fund averaged over a specified period. Id.

66. Id. § 10-5-12(j)(2). An "assignment," in this sense, is defined as "any direct or indi-
rect transfer or hypothecation of an investment advisory contract by the assignor or any
such transfer or hypothecation of a controlling block of the assignor's outstanding voting
securities by a security holder of the assignor." Id. § 10-5-2(a)(2).

67. Id. § 10-5-12(j)(3). Although notice must be given, a change in the composition of an
investment adviser partnership does not necessarily result in an assignment of an invest-
ment advisory contract. If the change results from the death or withdrawal of partners hav-
ing only a minority interest or from the admission of members who will have only a minority
interest, no assignment occurs. Id. § 10-5-2(a)(2).

68. Id. § 10-5-14(b)(1), (2).
69. Id. § 10-5-14(a), (b). Attorney fees and costs are also recoverable. Id.
70. Id. § 10-5-14(e).
71. Id. § 10-5-16.
72. Id. tit. 10, ch. 5A.
73. 1973 Ga. Laws 1202 (codified as amended at O.C.G.A. tit. 10, ch. 5 (1989)). See Se-

lected 1988 Legislation, Commodity Contracts: Provide for Enforcement, 5 GA. ST. U.L.
REV. 217 (1988) [hereinafter Selected 1988 Legislation].

74. 7 U.S.C. § 2 (1982). See Selected 1988 Legislation, supra note 73.
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To date, however, the statute remains unchallenged.

IV. AN OVERVIEW OF THE COMMISSIONER'S DECISIONS

The Commissioner investigated improper transactions amounting to
over $6,800,000 in illegal securities transactions.7 The Commissioner is
vested with the authority to make investigations pursuant to O.C.G.A. §
10-5-11(a), which states that the Commissioner

may make such public or private investigations within or outside of the
state as he deems necessary to determine whether any person has vio-
lated or is about to violate this chapter or any rule, regulation, or order
under this chapter or to aid in the enforcement of this chapter or in the
prescribing of rules and regulations hereunder.7

The result of any investigation by the Commissioner constitutes prima
facie evidence of compliance or noncompliance with the Securities Act
and is admissible in any civil or criminal action." This effect alone makes
the Offide of the Commissioner a powerful enforcement mechanism in the
area of securities regulations.

Cognizant of the power of his rulings of compliance or noncompliance
with the Securities Act, the Commissioner imposed only $42,800 in civil
fines and assessed costs of investigations during the survey period.78 The
cease and desist order is by far the Commissioner's most frequently used
method of enforcing the Securities Act. The Commissioner issued thirty-
four cease and desist orders during the survey period. The orders gener-
ally command the party to cease and desist actions not in compliance
with the Securities Act.7 The Commissioner has struck a balance in the
enforcement of the Securities Act by not assessing a great number of fines
against violators, apparently relying on the violator's fear of civil proceed-
ings as a sufficient deterrent since a finding of noncompliance by the
Commissioner serves as prima facie evidence of noncompliance.80

75. The $6,800,000 figure is based on the authors' computations of those dollar figures
included by the Commissioner in his orders. The actual dollar figure should be somewhat
higher because the Commissioner failed to include the monetary amounts involved in illegal
transactions in a significant number of cases. Computation and tabulation data are the au-
thors' independent figures and have not been verified by the editors.

76. O.C.G.A. § 10-5-11(a)(1) (1989).
77. Id. § 10-5-22(d).
78. Although not all inclusive, these cases represent examples of the Commissioner's im-

position of civil fines. See, e.g., International Capitol Funders, Inc., No. 50-88-9628 (Ga.
Comm'r of Secs., May 4, 1989) (LEXIS, Ga. State Library, Securities File); Lenz, No. 50-88-
9662 (Ga. Comm'r of Secs., Mar. 21, 1989) (LEXIS, Ga. State Library, Securities File).

79. See O.C.G.A. § 10-5-13(a)(1)(A)(i) (1989).
80. Id. § 10-5-22(d).
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Other enforcement tools at the Commissioner's disposal, which he used
during the survey period, were three suspensions of dealers' registra-
tions,"1 and two censures of dealers and salesmen of securities.2 The
Commissioner also denied four applications for registration as salesmen"
and revoked one registration of a salesman." In response to letters writ-
ten to the Commissioner for opinions relating to securities matters, he
issued several confirmation opinion letters. Each confirmation letter in-
cluded the following statement:

The Commissioner of Securities does not pass on the truth, complete-
ness, or accuracy of any registration statement, or recommend or give
approval to any security or security transaction involving a registration
statement or an exemption. This is a response by the staff to a specific
fact situation relating to the registration requirements of the Act and
should not be construed as a legal position or opinion of the Commis-
sioner of Securities or of any other official of the State of Georgia. Since
each inquiry is reviewed on the specific facts presented, this response is
based only on such facts and may not be used as a precedent.88

It is unclear when the power to issue such confirmation opinion letters
arises, although O.C.G.A. § 10-5-11(a)(3), (e), or (g) may be construed to
provide such a grant of authority."

During the survey period, the Commissioner investigated twenty-two
matters involving foreign corporations or individuals.87 Twenty-seven
other cases involved sales or offers to sell securities by registered dealers,
limited dealers, salesmen, or limited salesmen not registered with the
Commissioner pursuant to the provisions of the Securities Act.8s Sales or

81. Although not all inclusive, this case is an example of the Commissioner's suspending
dealer's registration. See, e.g., Habershier Sec., No. 50-88-9662 (Ga. Comm'r of Secs., Nov.
14, 1988) (LEXIS, Ga. State Library, Securities File).

82. Although not all inclusive, this case is an example of the Commissioner's censure
power. See, e.g., Lenz, No. 50-88-9662 (Ga. Comm'r of Secs., Mar. 21, 1989) (LEXIS, Ga.
State Library, Securities File).

83. Although not all inclusive, this case is an example of the Commissioner's decisions.
See, e.g., Mynaff, No. 50-88-9619 (Ga. Comm'r of Secs., Aug. 15, 1988) (LEXIS, Ga. State
Library, Securities File).

84. See, e.g., Mutual Sec., Inc., No. 50-88-9558 (Ga. Comm'r of Secs., Mar. 10, 1989)
(LEXIS, Ga. State Library, Securities File).

85. See, e.g., Control No. 62-880123 (Ga. Comm'r of Secs., July 5, 1988) (LEXIS, Ga.
State Library, Securities File).

86. O.C.G.A. § 10-5-11(a)(3), (e), (g) (1989).
87. Johnson Bowles Co., No. 50-88-9697 (Ga. Comm'r of Secs., Jan. 29, 1989) (LEXIS,

Ga. State Library, Securities File), is an example of a foreign corporation matter before the
Commissioner.

88. Although not all inclusive, this case is an example of the Commissioner's decisions.
See, e.g., Medical Concepts of Ga., Inc., No. 50-88-9713 (Ga. Comm'r of Secs., Dec. 20,
1988) (LEXIS, Ga. State Library, Securities File).
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offers to sell securities by unregistered individuals constitute a violation
of section 10-5-3(a) and are deemed unlawful practices under section 10-
5-12(a)(1).89 The Commissioner also found violations in twenty-five mat-
ters involving sales or offers to sell securities not subject to an effective
registration statement or securities not exempt under section 10-5-8 or
section 10-5-9.9*

The Commissioner investigated and found noncompliance in numerous
instances of classic fraud-type (scienter) cases (other than violations of
section 10-5-5 and section 10-5-3(a)).1 In the case, In The Matter of: In-
ternational Capital Funders, Inc., Universal Bookkeeping Service &
Berg & Reese & Lapriore,"2 the Commissioner in essence held that once a
violation of the Securities Act occurs, any settlement agreement that in-
volves the rescission or repurchase of fraudulently sold securities must
also comply with the Securities Act." In International Capital Funders,
the Commissioner issued a right to a hearing and a proposed order of
prohibition to three foreign corporations and certain individuals ("de-
fendants") who sold securities in an investment project in violation of the
Securities Act.' The three defendants had violated the Securities Act by
offering and selling unregistered, nonexempt securities.6 In connection
with the offer and sale, they made untrue statements of material fact and
admitted stating other material facts in order to make the false state-
ments not misleading."6 Additionally, the Commissioner found that de-
fendants had engaged in a scheme to defraud investors by use of misrep-
resentations and omissions of material fact.'

These defendants received notice of the right to a hearing and pro-
posed order on August 15, 1988. None of the defendants responded or
demanded a hearing." After waiting the required time period in which
any of the defendants could have requested and obtained a hearing with
respect to the proposed order, the Commissioner subsequently issued the
order as proposed on September 6, 1988." On September 25, 1988, de-

89. O.C.G.A. §§ 10-5-3(a), -12(a)(1) (1989).
90. Although not all inclusive, this case is an example of the Commissioner's decisions.

See, e.g., Home Works, Inc., No. 50-87-9659 (Ga. Comm'r of Secs., Dec. 20, 1988) (LEXIS,
Ga. State Library, Securities File).

91. See infra text accompanying notes 92-105.
92. No. 50-88-9628 (Ga. Comm'r of Secs., May 4, 1989) (LEXIS, Ga. State Library, Se-

curities File).
93. Id.
94. Id.
95. Id.
96. Id.
97. Id.
98. Id.
99. Id.
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fendants made rescission offers to three Georgia residents, each of whom
had purchased investment interests in the project.100 The Commissioner
in effect held that these offers constituted offers to repurchase the indi-
viduals' investment interests. 10 1 The rescission cover letter contained,
among other things, the following statements:

Recently, the Georgia State Securities Board notified us of its intent to
seek an order to require us to stop selling ore contracts in Georgia. Theydid so on the allegation that we have sold an "unregistered" security,

[sic] a claim which we have disputed. However, to avoid the expense of
legal fees and costs in prolonged litigation over these issues, we have
elected to settle with the State of Georgia by making to you an offer to
rescind your ore purchase.1 0

2

The Commissioner found that the statements quoted above misrepre-
sented the status of defendants and failed to disclose that the first order
issued was uncontested by any of the parties.108 The Commissioner found
that all defendants violated O.C.G.A. § 10-5-12(a)(2)(B).10' The Commis-
sioner then collectively fined defendants $45,000."'

International Capital Funders is important to the securities practi-
tioner whose client may have sold securities in violation of the Securities
Act. It reflects that the Commissioner will hold that rescission offers or
repurchase offers of the fraudulently sold securities by the culpable party
must comply with the Securities Act.

100. Id.
101. Id.
102. Id.
103. Id.
104. Id. (citing O.C.G.A. § 10-5-12(a)(2)(B) (1989)). "To make an untrue statement of a

material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statement
made, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading." Id.

105. Id.
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